# Neuropeptide levels, lifestyle and BMI in postpartum women – a follow-up study

Degree Project in Medicine

By: Ameli Ingemansson

Supervisor: Ulrika Andersson Hall Co-supervisor: Agneta Holmäng

# Programme in Medicine



Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology, Department of Physiology, Sahlgrenska Academy

Gothenburg, Sweden 2016

# **Table of contents**

1.	Abstract
2.	Introduction
3.	Aim7
4.	Material and methods7
	4.1 Subjects
	4.2 Anthropometry and body composition
	4.3 Blood and CSF sampling
	4.4 Hormone assays
	4.5 Questionnaires regarding lifestyle
5.	Statistical methods9
6.	Ethics
7.	Results
	7.1 Body composition and background characteristics
	7.1.1 Background characteristics
	7.1.2 BMI development 12
	7.1.3 Body composition
	7.2 Neuropeptides
	7.2.1 Agouti-related peptide (AgRP)
	7.2.1. Insulin
	7.2.2 Leptin
	7.3 Lifestyle
8.	Discussion
9.	Conclusions
10	. Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på Svenska
11	Acknowledgements
12	. References
13	. Appendeces

### 1. Abstract

"The association between neuropeptide levels, lifestyle and BMI in postpartum women – a follow-up study"

Author: Ameli Ingemansson. Supervisor: Ulrika Andersson Hall. Co-supervisor: Agneta Holmäng Degree project, Programme in Medicine Department of physiology. University of Gothenburg, Sweden, 2016.

**Background:** Women with a pre-pregnancy BMI >25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> both have a higher risk of pregnancy-related complications such as gestational diabetes, as well as of remaining overweight post-partum, which is a well-known risk factor for many welfare-diseases. Among other factors, lifestyle changes and neuropeptide levels may influence BMI development during pregnancy and post-partum.

Aim: To follow up women 3 – 5 year post-partum and to measure their levels of neuropeptides (leptin, insulin and Agouti-related peptide (AgRP)) in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and serum (s), and to study if BMI changes (pre- and post-partum) and fat mass (post-partum) were related to neuropeptide levels and insulin sensitivity. Lifestyle characteristics such as diet and physical activity were also studied.

Methods: Women (n=25) were recruited from a previous pregnancy study conducted in 2010 – 2013. Blood and CSF samples were collected at caesarean and post-partum, body composition were determined, and questionnaires regarding dietary intake, physical activity was distributed. The women were divided into three groups based on their BMI changes from pre-pregnancy to follow-up visits: Loss, Stable and Gain.

**Results:** The lowest BMI was found in the Stable group (BMI  $26.2 \pm 4.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$  at follow up), where also s-AgRP levels remained higher post-partum compared with the other groups. The BMI Gain group (BMI  $31.7 \pm 3.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$  at follow up) had the lowest CSF/S leptin quota, highest increase in CSF insulin levels and were also found to have the highest insulin

resistance at follow up (HOMA-IR =  $2.4 \pm 0.8$ ). Additionally, BMI correlated to changes in s-AgRP levels post-partum ( $\rho$  = -0.511) and to CSF/S leptin ( $\rho$  = -0.672). Regarding lifestyle, fat intake correlated ( $\rho$  = 0.576) to the increment of CSF AgRP after pregnancy, and physical activity correlated ( $\rho$  = -0.507) to lower fat mass.

**Conclusions:** High s-AgRP levels and a high CSF/S leptin quota, in addition to physical activity might predict lower BMI after pregnancy. Evidence of correlation between fat intake and CSF AgRP levels was found for the first time and would be of interest to study further. **Key-words:** Agouti-related peptide, weight-loss, pregnancy, lifestyle, BMI.

# 2. Introduction

The rising proportion of overweight individuals in our population is a major concern. In Sweden, as many as 38.5% of women are overweight (Body Mass Index >25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) or even obese (BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) at the start of pregnancy (1). The BMI of pregnant women positively correlates with increased risk of maternal and fetal complications (2), where gestational diabetes mellitus is one of the most common health problems (3). Women with gestational diabetes have a higher risk for developing type II diabetes later in life (4). Pre pregnancy BMI together with excessive gestational weight gain during pregnancy does not only predict shortterm morbidity and higher weight retention after pregnancy, but also potential lifelong obesity (5). Gestational weight gain alone explains half of the post-partum weight retention (6), and is therefore the greatest independent predictor (7).

During pregnancy the energy intake increases and thermogenesis is supressed (8, 9), to achieve a favourable condition for foetal development and lactation. This change in energy balance is believed to partly depend on the orexigenic Agouti-related Peptide (AgRP) and the anorexigenic neuropeptides leptin and insulin, and their interactions within the brain. Concurrently with fat-mass gain and placental growth during pregnancy, serum (S) and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of leptin are increased (10, 11). They are both strongly correlated with BMI and body fat during pregnancy (12). Even though obese and overweight women have higher levels of CSF leptin, there is a negative correlation between the quota CSF/S and increasing BMI, due to a saturable transport of leptin to the brain at the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) (13). The contradictory increase in appetite, despite an elevation of this anorexigenic peptide in pregnant women in general, and obese pregnant women in particular (14, 15), points to a central resistance to leptin with increasing central concentrations.

As neuropeptides also interact and regulate each other's secretion, the suppressive effects that leptin exerts on AgRP (16, 17) may be reversed by leptin resistance (18), which is believed to eventually initialize a compensatory increase in CSF AgRP (19-21). Thus, increased food intake in pregnant women can be seen as a consequence of higher central concentrations of AgRP along with weight gain and foetal and placental growth, which might be necessary to counteract the inhibitory effects of leptin at the brain (22). This would further explain how obese women are able to keep a positive energy balance.

The theory of relative resistance due to saturable transport over the BBB is also applicable to insulin (23). Insulin regulates appetite in a faster manner than leptin, as it is secreted as a direct response to food intake, compared to the continuous release of leptin from adipose tissue. Peripheral insulin resistance develops during pregnancy and serum insulin levels are elevated to ensure normal glucose metabolism and adequate nutrition of the foetus. There is an inverse correlation between insulin sensitivity and fat-mass gained in normal weight pregnant women, and this correlation seems to be even more accentuated along with pregnancy, and in obese women (24). The decreased sensitivity to insulin late in pregnancy is believed to be caused by corticosteroids and placental hormones (25). In most cases, insulin sensitivity will return to normal shortly after delivery as the placenta is removed.

Results from an earlier study from our lab showed for the first time that AgRP was produced in the human placenta, and that s-AgRP levels were elevated in pregnancy (19). This study also showed that all three of the neuropeptides AgRP, insulin and leptin in CSF were higher in obese and overweight women than in normal-weight women during pregnancy. Accordingly, insulin and leptin levels in serum were higher in obese women compared to normal weight women, but their quota in CSF/S was lower. Serum (S)-AgRP, however, was higher in serum in normal weight women. The conclusions drawn from this study were that elevated levels of CSF AgRP throughout pregnancy protected women from the suppressive effects of leptin and insulin on appetite, and that high CSF AgRP promoted a positive energy balance in overweight and obese pregnant women. It was also suggested that high s-AgRP levels were coupled with lower BMI and a favourable metabolic profile. These findings support the theory of resistance at the level of the brain for leptin, and suggest that central AgRP interacts with the effects of leptin to meet the metabolic requirements of pregnancy. However, the actions of AgRP on energy balance are still poorly understood, especially during times of weight gain or weight loss, such as during and after pregnancy. A follow up study was therefore initiated to study how the neuropeptides develop along with BMI changes after pregnancy.

The different determinants for weight development after pregnancy are, of course, not only neuropeptides. For example, it has been shown that physical activity (PA) has many beneficial effects after pregnancy, including physical and mental health and also impacts on weight loss (26). If weight loss is a desirable objective PA should be combined with diet recommendations and reduced energy intake (27). Thus, these parameters are also of interest when studying factors connected to weight changes.

### **3.** Aim

The purpose of this study was to follow up women whose neuropeptide levels in the CSF and serum were measured during pregnancy in a study carried out 3 - 5 years earlier (19) to find out how their weights developed after pregnancy, and if weight differences relate to changes in neuropeptide levels, and metabolic health. As diet and PA are believed to play major roles in postpartum weight loss (28), we analyzed PA and food intake. With more knowledge about changes of these parameters, we might find clues to who will normalize their weight, and predict the risk of developing or remaining overweight or obese after pregnancy.

### 4. Material and methods

#### 4.1 Subjects

All 74 women from the earlier study (19) were contacted by phone, and 25 women agreed to participate in this follow-up.

Inclusion criteria in the first study were uncomplicated pregnancies and healthy subjects, screened by medical history. They were all planned for caesarean section and CSF samples were extracted before the lumbar anaesthesia to minimize the numbers of lumbar puncion. All subjects were normoglycemic, non-smokers, and did not have a risk consumption of alcohol at the entry of the study. Dieting and use of weight-loss supplements within 6 months before pregnancy were excluding factors, and no dietary recommendations were given to the women in the study. Exclusion criteria for the present study were pregnancy during the last 12 months or history of diabetes, neurological, hepatic-, renal- or major psychiatric disease. Four of the participants had been pregnant during the time period between these two studies, and the average time of follow up was 5 years after their latest pregnancy.

#### 4.2 Anthropometry and body composition

Body composition of the participants was determined by a whole-body GE Lunar iDXA (Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry) scan, where fat mass (%) of total body mass was calculated by making transverse scans from head to toe (29). All participants wore light-weight clothes and had their metal jewellery removed. Also android and gynoid distributed fat mass were analysed via Prodigy enCORE software (30). Android fat mass is fat distributed around the abdomen between the ribs and the pelvis, and gynoid fat is the fat distributed around the hips and upper thighs (For visualization see Appendix1). Both were computed in percent of total mass of the area.

#### 4.3 Blood and CSF sampling

After an overnight fast, venous blood and CSF samples were collected. Before spinal anaesthesia lumbar punction was used to extract 12 ml of CSF, and together with blood samples directly transported to the Laboratory for Clinical Chemistry and the Neurochemistry Department and Diagnostics Research Unit at the Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Mölndal.

#### 4.4 Hormone assays

Leptin and AgRP in CSF and serum were analysed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (R&D systems) at the Neurochemistry Department and Research Unit. CSF insulin was analysed with a double antibody radioimmunoassay (Linco Research, St Charles, MO, USA) at the Department of Clinical Science, Lund University. All other biochemical analyses were performed by the accredited clinical chemistry lab (SWEDAC ISO 15189). Due to technical difficulties or subjects declination, CSF was only sampled from 17 of the 25 women.

#### 4.5 Questionnaires regarding lifestyle

The participants reported their dietary intake during the three previous months by completing a food frequency questionnaire. This questionnaire has been validated in the large SOS

8

(Swedish Obese Subjects) study at Sahlgrenska Academy (31). The participants also completed a short questionnaire regarding PA at work and during spare time where they ranked their levels of activity on a scale from 0/1 - 4 (see Appendix 3). Insulin resistance was estimated by HOMA-IR (Homeostatic Model Assessment – Insulin Resistance) which is a highly sensitive and specific method to assess insulin resistance (32).

All the personal information regarding the participants was transcoded so that no results could be backtracked.

### 5. Statistical methods

The clinical data and the questionnaire results were collected and entered in Excel databases. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS.

In the earlier study women were divided into groups based on their BMI before pregnancy; normal weight (NW) with BMI 18.5 – 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, overweight (OW) with BMI >25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and obese (OB) with BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The women in our study were divided into three groups based on changes in BMI from before pregnancy to after, with a total range of BMI changes from -3.2 - 6.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The three groups were divided into quartiles, with a midfield consistent of the second and third quartile. Hence, the 1:st quartile (<-0.6) = BMI Loss, the 2:nd and 3:rd quartile (-0.4 – 2.1) = BMI Stable, and the 4:th quartile (>2.6) = BMI Gain.

The groups were compared for significant differences by medians (because of small sample sizes) using the Kruskal Wallis test, which is a non-parametric analysis of variance that does not assume normal distributed populations. The Whitney U method, with a significance level of <0.05 was used as Post-Hoc test. Because of outliers particularly in serum and CSF-analyses, relations were evaluated by calculation of Spearman's correlation coefficient ( $\rho$ ).

Even though there were clinical data that deviated >2 SD from the mean, no data were excluded during the analyses. This was because of the restricted numbers of participants, and uncertainty if deviations were due to interpersonal differences or analysing errors.

# 6. Ethics

This project was undertaken at the Sahlgrenska hospital and was approved by the ethical committee at the University of Gothenburg (dnr 402-08 and dnr 750-15) as a part of the PONCH study. Women from the earlier study (19) were contacted and asked to participate, with information verbally and written. Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

## 7. Results

#### 7.1 Body composition and background characteristics

#### 7.1.1 Background characteristics

In the earlier study on neuropeptides at caesarean, women were divided into groups based on their pre-pregnancy BMI (Body Mass Index); Normal Weight (NW), Over Weight (OW), and Obese (OB). In the current study, these women were divided into quartiles based on their BMI development from pre-pregnancy to follow up, with the two quartiles in the middle equalling the Stable group. Since the previous study, most women of NW were distributed into the Stable group. OW mostly into Stable and Gain groups, and OB into Loss and Stable groups (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Distribution by numbers of participants from earlier BMI groups; normal weight (NW) over weight (OW) and obese (OB), into new groups based on BMI development from prepregnancy to follow-up; Loss, Stable and Gain.

Background characteristics in groups based on BMI development are displayed in Table 1 (for background characteristics based on previous groups, see Appendix 2).

The BMI at follow up was significantly different between the groups, with the Stable group having the lowest BMI. During pregnancy there was no difference in insulin resistance, as measured by the Homeostatic Model Assessment – of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) whereas at follow up the Gain group had higher insulin resistance than the Stable group. No significant differences were found between the groups regarding P-glucose, neither during pregnancy, nor at the follow up (results not shown) and time since last pregnancy.

Table 1. Bivit and background characteristics in groups based on Bivit development.					
	BMI Loss	BMI Stable	<b>BMI Gain</b>	n	
	(n)	(n)	(n)	P	
<b>Pre-pregnancy BMI</b> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	29.6 (21.8 – 34.0) (6)	26.2 (18.0 – 33.3) (13)	27.7 (23.3 32.4) (6)	0.345 a. 0.174 b. 0.631 c. 0.380	
Gestational weight gain (kg)	11.0 (7.1 – 18.0) (6)	12.0 (-2.0 – 17.0) (13)	16.0 (10.0 – 27.0) (6)	0.100 a. 0.628 b. 0.077 c. 0.053	
<b>BMI at follow up</b> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	27.0 (20.2 – 31.5) (6)	26.2 (18.4 – 33.7) (13)	31.7 (27.6 – 37.0) (6)	<b>0.024</b> a. 0.930 <b>b. 0.016</b> <b>c. 0.014</b>	
Weight change post-partum (kg)	-6.2 (-8.8 – -1.8) (6)	1.1 (-1.1 – 5.6) (13)	12.9 (7.1 – 17.3) (6)	<0.001 a. 0.001 b. 0.004 c. 0.001	
<b>BMI change from pre-</b> <b>pregnancy to follow up</b> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-2.2 (-3.2 – -0.7) (6)	0.4 (-0.4 – 2.1) (13)	4.5 (2.7 – 6.7) (6)	<0.001 a. 0.001 b. 0.004 c. <0.001	
Age (years)	42.1 (36.7 – 45.0) (6)	40.9 (27.4 – 46.7) (13)	36.9 (29.6 – 42.6) (6)	0.163 a. 0.292 b. 0.055 c. 0.237	
Parity (n)	3 (2 – 3) (6)	2 (1 – 3) (13)	2 (1 – 2) (6)	<b>0.035</b> a. 0.070 <b>b. 0.018</b> c. 0.212	
<b>Time since last pregnancy</b> (years)	6 (4 – 6) (6)	4 (2 – 6) (13)	6 (4 – 6) (6)	0.468 a. 0.930 b. 1.000 c. 0.329	
HOMA-IR during pregnancy	1.1 (0.3 – 4.6) (6)	1.2 (0.1 – 3.4) (13)	1.1 (0.4 – 1.7) (6)	0.866 a. 0.329 b. 0.873 c. 0.539	
HOMA-IR at follow up	$\frac{1.0\ (0.8-2.8)}{(5)}$	1.1 (0.4 – 2.3) (13)	2.4 (0.7 – 2.8) (6)	0.080 a. 0.522	

Table 1. BMI and background characteristics in groups based on BMI development.

Values are medians, with minimum and maximum values within parenthesis. P-values based on Kruskall Wallis. Significance at the <0.05 level.

b. 0.273 c. 0.023

- a. Whitney U comparison between Loss Stable
- b. Whitney U comparison between Loss Gain
- c. Whitney U comparison between Stable Gain

Parity was significantly higher in the Loss group, with a median of one more child than the

other groups. Additionally, we found negative correlations between parity and HOMA-IR, Sleptin, weight change and BMI at follow up. Though these correlations were weak (data not shown), they all pointed in the same direction, with parity in this study being correlated with weight loss and the positive metabolic changes that followed.



#### 7.1.2 BMI development

the groups, with Stable group having the lowest BMI generally. Weight changes significantly differed between the three groups in order Loss – Stable – Gain, and the Loss group not only tended to gain less weight during pregnancy, they also lost significantly more after pregnancy (Table 1).

In Table 2 it is shown that BMI at follow up correlated strongly and significantly to serum (s) -leptin, and weaker but significantly to Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF) leptin. Furthermore it correlated negatively to the ratio CSF/S leptin at follow up, suggesting increased leptin transportation to the brain with loss in BMI. Additionally, weight loss after pregnancy correlated significantly to the change in HOMA-IR which suggests that insulin resistance was reduced by weight loss. BMI at follow up further correlated negatively to the change in s-AgRP levels which may indicate elevated levels of orexigenic s-AgRP among women with lower BMI after pregnancy.

The speak and the second secon									
		CSF leptin	S-leptin	CSF/S	S-AgRP	HOMA-IR	HOMA-IR		
		at follow	at follow	leptin at	change post-	at follow	change post-		
		up	up	follow up	partum	up	partum		
BMI at	ρ	0.571	0.729	-0.672	-0.511	0.500	0.455		
follow up	р	0.017	0.000	0.003	0.021	0.013	0.022		
	n	17	25	17	20	24	25		
Weight loss	ρ	0.216	0.439	-0.459	-0.373	0.373	0.429		
post-	р	0.405	0.028	0.064	0.105	0.073	0.033		
partum	n	17	25	17	20	24	25		

**Table 2.** Spearman correlations ( $\rho$ ) to post-partum weight loss and BMI at follow up.

#### 7.1.3 Body composition

Not surprisingly, fat mass was found to be lower in the BMI Stable group (Table 3) with a

tendency of android fat distributed the same between the groups, but gynoid not.

	BMI Loss (n)	<b>BMI Stable</b> (n)	<b>BMI Gain</b> (n)	Р
Fat mass (%)	38.5 (29.6 – 45.9) (6)	38.0 (23.3 – 45.5) (13)	43.5 (39.8 – 48.2) (6)	0.077 a. 0.792 b. 0.055 c. 0.039
Android fat (%)	45.9 (25.8 – 47.1) (6)	38.6 (17.8 – 53.1) (13)	50.6 (44.2 – 55.1) (6)	0.039 a. 0.861 b. 0.025 c. 0.023
Gynoid fat (%)	39.6 (36.1 – 50.6) (6)	43.2 (27.7 – 48.9) (13)	46.3 (41.9 – 50.7) (6)	0.096 a. 0.930 b. 0.078 c. 0.044

Table 3. Body composition at follow up.

Values are medians, with minimum and maximum values within parenthesis. Pvalues based on Kruskall Wallis. Significance at the <0.05 level.

a. Whitney U comparison between Loss - Stable

b. Whitney U comparison between Loss – Gain

c. Whitney U comparison between Stable - Gain

Fat mass % positively correlated with s-leptin, CSF leptin, and HOMA-IR at the follow up, which was expected as central and peripheral leptin, as well as insulin resistance, tend to increase with body fat (Table 4.). Furthermore there was negative correlations to CSF/S leptin, s-AgRP and the change of s-AgRP after pregnancy, in accordance with the correlations to BMI values mentioned previously. S-insulin at follow up had a stronger positive correlation to fat with android than gynoid distribution.

CSF leptin S-leptin at S-insulin at **CSF/S** leptin S-AgRP at S-AgRP change **HOMA-IR** follow up at follow up follow up at follow up follow up post-partum at follow up Fat mass 0.527 0.498 0.832 -0.790 -0.445 -0.539 0.535 ρ by DXA 0.007 0.042 0.000 0.026 0.000 0.014 0.007 р (%) 25 17 25 17 25 20 24 n Android 0.616 0.534 0.758 -0.776 -0.361 -0.510 0.520 ρ fat (%) 0.009 0.001 0.027 0.000 0.000 0.076 0.022 р 25 17 25 17 25 20 24 n Gynoid 0.423 0.522 0.833 -0.685 -0.325 -0.522 0.410 ρ 0.047 fat (%) 0.035 0.032 0.000 0.002 0.113 0.018 р 25 17 25 17 25 20 24 n

**Table 4.** Spearman correlations ( $\rho$ ) to body composition at follow up.

#### 7.2 Neuropeptides

#### 7.2.1 Agouti-related peptide (AgRP)



after pregnancy, while the other two decreased (Table 5).

		$\mathbf{r} (\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{r}$	r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		
		BMI Loss	<b>BMI Stable</b>	<b>BMI Gain</b>	Р
		(n)	(n)	(n)	-
S-AgRP	FU	16 (16 – 31) (6)	25 (16 – 33) (13)	20 (16 – 23) (6)	0,471 a. 0.373 b. 0.624 c. 0.285
(pg/ml)	Δ	-21 (-27 – 10) (5)	1 (-45 – 22) (9)	-24 (-42 – 18) (6)	<b>0,035</b> a. 0.205 b. 0.201 <b>c. 0.013</b>
<b>CSF AgRP</b>	FU	34 (19 – 47) (4)	41 (30 – 63) (19)	38 (35 – 39) (3)	0,432 a. 0.287 b. 0.593 c. 0.351
(PS)	Δ	8 (4 – 20) (4)	25 (11 – 43) (8)	12 (-20 – 27) (3)	<b>0,092</b> <b>a. 0.026</b> b. 0.724 c. 0.306

**Table 5.** S-AgRP at follow up (FU) and the difference from pregnancy ( $\Delta$ ).

Values are medians, with minimum and maximum values within parenthesis. P-values based on Kruskall Wallis. Significance at the <0.05 level.

a. Whitney U comparison between Loss - Stable

b. Whitney U comparison between Loss - Gain

c. Whitney U comparison between Stable - Gain



(Table 5). Interestingly, changes in CSF AgRP correlated weakly but significantly to changes in fat intake post-partum (See diet correlations in Figure 8). It also negatively correlated to years from last pregnancy (r = -0.608, p = 0.016), in other words; the longer time elapsed since the last pregnancy, the more similar CSF AgRP levels were to those during pregnancy.

#### **7.2.1. Insulin**





CSF insulin and

they were all from the BMI Stable group. The two women who had the highest increase in CSF insulin were from the BMI Gain group, and this group also increased their CSF insulin significantly more than the other groups. No differences regarding serum insulin were found between the groups (results not shown).

**Table 6.** CSF insulin at follow up (FU) and the difference from pregnancy ( $\Delta$ ).

		BMI Loss (n)	BMI Stable (n)	BMI Gain (n)	Р
CSF Insulin	FU	0,22 (0,12 – 0,39) (4)	0,06 (0,04 – 0,30) (7)	0,52 (0,12 – 0,94) (3)	0,179 a. 0.296 b. 0.372 c. 0.086
(uU/ml)	Δ	0,04 (-0,04 – 0,10) (3)	0,01 (-0,36 – 0,04) (5)	0,19 (0,10 – 079) (3)	<b>0,036</b> a. 0.180 b. 0.077

Values are medians, with minimum and maximum values within parenthesis. P-values based on Kruskall Wallis. Significance at the <0.05 level.

a. Whitney U comparison between Loss – Stable

b. Whitney U comparison between Loss – Gain

c. Whitney U comparison between Stable - Gain



# 7.2.2 Leptin

Figure 6. Development of leptin transportation at the blood-brain barrier from caesarean to follow up, groupwise.

BBB developing

during pregnancy did thus not in general seem to be reversed post-partum as many of the participants actually increased their CSF/S leptin quota post-partum.

	Table 7. Seruin and CS175 reprin at follow up (10) and the difference from pregnancy (2).									
		BMI Loss (n)	BMI Stable (n)	<b>BMI Gain</b> (n)	Р					
CSF/S	FU	0,017 (0008 – 0,025) (4)	0,020 (0,010 – 0,031) (10)	0,006 (0,006 – 0,14) (3)	0,073 a. 0.396 b. 0.154 c. 0.028					
leptin	Δ	-0,008 (-0,013 – 0,009) (3)	0,003 (-0,006 – 0,022) (8)	-0,004 (-0,013 – 0,002) (3)	0,240 a. 0.153 b. 0.827 c. 0.221					

**Table 7.** Serum and CSF/S leptin at follow up (FU) and the difference from pregnancy ( $\Delta$ )

Values are medians, with minimum and maximum values within parenthesis. P-values based on Kruskall Wallis. Significance at the <0.05 level.

a. Whitney U comparison between Loss - Stable

b. Whitney U comparison between Loss - Gain

c. Whitney U comparison between Stable - Gain

# 7.3 Lifestyle



intake. In the other Figure 7. Development of energy intake (kcal) from caesarean to follow up, groupwise.

groups the change in energy intake was more diverse.



there any correlation between BMI at follow up and diet. However, the change in CSF AgRP correlated significantly to changes in fat intake post-partum, with no correlation to any other macronutrient (Figure 8).

		S-leptin at	S-leptin change	Fat mass at	Gynoid fat	Android fat
		follow up	post-partum	follow up	at follow up	at follow up
Physical activity	ρ	-0.482	-0.462	-0.507	-0.547	-0.359
- leisure	р	0.015	0.023	0.010	0.005	0.078
	n	25	24	25	25	25
Physical activity	ρ	-0.288	-0.393	-0.272	-0.397	-0.126
- total	р	0.162	0.058	0.188	0.050	0.547
	n	25	24	25	25	25

**Table 8.** Spearman correlations ( $\rho$ ) to physical activity at follow up.

There were significant negative correlations between PA at spare time and fat mass. However, android fat did not correlate, but gynoid fat did (Table 8). No significant differences were found between the groups (results not shown).

### 8. Discussion

Our major findings were that the Stable group had the lowest BMI, and also remained at higher serum Agouti-related peptide (s-AgRP) levels post-partum than the other groups. The BMI Gain group increased their levels of insulin in CSF, and had higher peripheral insulin resistance, measured by HOMA-IR, at the follow up. Low BMI correlated to physical activity (PA), to the increment of s-AgRP, to lower insulin resistance, and to higher CSF/S leptin quota. Evidence of correlation between fat intake and levels of CSF AgRP was found for the first time in human.

Characteristic for the women in the Gain group was that they retained more weight after pregnancy. Furthermore they decreased their levels of peripheral AgRP more than the other groups, and low s-AgRP levels are, as mentioned previously, suggested to be connected to higher BMI (19). They also increased their CSF insulin levels more than the other groups and had higher peripheral insulin resistance, measured by HOMA-IR at follow up.

Women with decreased weight compared with before pregnancy tended to gain less weight during pregnancy, and lost significantly more after pregnancy compared to the other groups, which may depend on lifestyle changes such as more physical activity, since this correlated to fat mass after pregnancy.

The weight-stable women in our study remained at higher s-AgRP after pregnancy. The overall reduction of s-AgRP levels at follow up may be due to the removal of the placenta, which during pregnancy contributes to the peripheral synthesis that makes s-AgRP levels higher and probably also to larger variability during this period. Other peripheral sources of AgRP synthesis are adrenal glands, kidneys, and lungs (33). AgRP is released diurnally from the hypothalamus along with fasting (34) and may be elevated in serum from the adrenal glands in response to exercise (35). The increase in CSF AgRP might be connected to PA and

low BMI together with higher levels of peripheral AgRP found in this study. Women that kept a stable BMI from before pregnancy had lower BMI, fat mass, insulin resistance and CSF insulin. The low and stable levels of s-AgRP further confirms earlier findings which suggests that lower BMI is connected to higher s-AgRP levels in serum (12, 18, 19).

Findings of a correlation between changes in CSF AgRP and changes in fat intake are in accordance with studies on rodents. These studies showed that higher fat intake promotes leptin resistance (36) via an inflammatory process at the AgRP neurons in the hypothalamus (37, 38), with a subsequent increase in CSF AgRP due to the lowered potency of leptin's suppressive effect on these neurons (21, 39). This implicates that fat intake could have an orexigenic effect through altered levels of CSF AgRP, which remains to be proven in humans. Wei W et al. further describe that mice fed a high fat diet, even for a short period, have elevated CSF AgRP levels, but do not develop leptin resistance (21). In other words, fat intake may have a greater impact on energy balance than previously believed, and as described by Milanski et al., even fat quality may impact on the inflammatory response at the AgRP neurons (40). This result is interesting and needs to be studied further, especially with a larger sample size included, and also with determining of fat quality in the diet.

BMI and fat mass at follow up additionally correlated to parameters that have been concluded to be coupled to BMI in earlier studies, such as serum and CSF leptin, HOMA-IR and negatively to CSF/S leptin (19, 41, 42). The lower CSF/S leptin during pregnancy correlated to BMI, and was not in general reversed at follow up. Thus this satiety in transportation to the brain would rather be linked to BMI and fat mass per se.

The negative correlation between parity and HOMA-IR at pregnancy and to HOMA-IR change after pregnancy indicates development of increased insulin resistance with each

pregnancy, but also a greater reversion post-partum, which are both well-known phenomena (43).

One of the strengths of this study is the even distribution between normal weight, over weight and obese participants from the first study. Additionally we were able to look at a longitudinal prospective development of the same women's BMI and neuropeptides, instead of comparing pregnant women to a non-pregnant group. Another advantage is that the time span since their last pregnancy was long enough that their weight and neuropeptide levels should have stabilized.

A factor to take into consideration was that as the samples were extracted at different times for caesarean and follow up, the neuropeptides were not analysed at the same time in parallel. Hence, there could be systematic errors regarding especially the AgRP and leptin components of the results in thus study. S-insulin was measured by a certified clinical chemistry lab, which should give reproducible results. Both sets of CSF insulin samples were measured simultaneously, and plans to do the same for AgRP and leptin have been made although they were not possible to carry out within the scope of this project. However, looking both at absolute values and changes from one time-point to another reduces the impact of systematic errors.

We should furthermore take into account that planned caesarean section is not randomly performed on pregnant women, but inclusion and exclusion criteria in this study should minimize the risk that our women should differ in terms of progression of the pregnancy. There is also difficulty to recruit women for this kind of study, since testing may give rise to pain, and there was also a small risk for transient health complications from CSF sampling (post-spinal headache). It is also quite time-consuming to fill in extensive questionnaires, so it is possible that women who chose to participate in the follow up study are more ambitious and caring about a healthy lifestyle than women in the general population. This suggests a

22

possibility of bias in the recruited group, and might lead to selection towards a specific social class and tends to exclude others.

As these results are based on a small group of individuals, they are mostly indicators of what could be of interest for further studies. Special care should be taken when interpreting results on diet and physical activity since there could be difficulties in questionnaire reliability (31). Especially for diet there is a known phenomenon that self-reported diet tends not to be totally reliable, particularly not for obese subjects (44), and on basis of a small number of participants. Hence, no significant differences between the groups were found regarding PA and diet. Though we decided to only use the interpersonal results from the dietary questionnaire, so that at least the changes in diet would be rather reliable since these results are based on reports from the same person, only at different times. Also, using correlations in addition to group analysis allowed us to use the full material as one group with a bigger sample size.

## 9. Conclusions

For the first time, it was possible to show that CSF AgRP in humans was correlated to fat intake. Both fat intake and fat quality would be interesting to study further, as this study suggests that diet composition could contribute to increased levels of CSF AgRP, and hence energy-homeostasis.

S-AgRP was higher in participants with lower BMI, and BMI correlated negatively to changes in s-AgRP which further confirms earlier findings. Women with lower BMI were also more weight stable than the other groups which has not been shown before. Thus, high levels of s-AgRP and CSF/S leptin after pregnancy, in addition to physical activity might predict who will keep a low and stable BMI.

23

It is difficult to interpret whether body composition and habits determine neuropeptide levels, or if the reverse case is true. More longitudinal studies would therefore be of interest.

## 10. Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på Svenska

"Neuropeptider, livsstil och BMI efter graviditeten - en uppföljande studie"

Av: Ameli Ingemansson. Handledare: Ulrika Andersson Hall och Agneta Holmäng Examensarbete, läkarprogrammet, HT 2016. Institutet för neurovetenskap och fysiologi, Sahlgrenska akademien, Göteborgs universitet.

Övervikt och fetma är som bekant en av de farligaste riskfaktorerna för flertalet välfärdssjukdomar. Under graviditeten ökar risken för komplikationer hos både mor och barn om kvinnan är överviktig eller fet (har ett "Body mass index" (BMI) över 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Sjukdomar som graviditets-diabetes och blodproppar ökar med stigande BMI, och risken att förbli överviktig/fet ökar ju mer man lagt på sig under graviditeten. Vid en normal graviditet ökar kvinnan i vikt trots att koncentrationen av centralt verkande hungerdämpande hormoner som insulin och leptin ökar. Leptin frigörs av fettmassa och från moderkakan, varför dessa nivåer stiger under graviditeten och vid ökande BMI. Insulin ökar också med stigande BMI, men frigörs snarare vid måltider än kontinuerligt, såsom leptin. Dessa båda koncentrationer stiger således även hos överviktiga/feta kvinnor under graviditeten. Trots att nivåerna av dessa båda hormoner stiger i både serum och i centrala nervsystemet (CNS) under graviditeten och vid ökande BMI, så verkar det föreligga någon form av mättnad både för transporten till hjärnan men också en sorts resistens i hjärnan, ju högre nivåer man utvecklar. Det är på så sätt man förklarar hur överviktiga kvinnor under graviditeten ändå kan tillgodogöra sig energi och fettmassa på liknande sätt som normalviktiga dito, trots höga nivåer av dessa hungerdämpande hormoner.

I en tidigare studie från forskargruppen fastslog man bland annat att moderkakan inte bara producerar hungerdämpande hormoner utan även ett hormon som verkar hungerstimulerande i CNS (AgRP). Detta hormonen har dock en annan effekt i blodet än i hjärnan, och man kopplade samma höga nivåer av AgRP i blod med lågt BMI. Man föreslog också en kompensatorisk ökning av det hungerstimulerande AgRP i CNS som svar på höga nivåer av insulin och leptin, men ville följa upp dessa resultat för att få en mer mångfacetterad bild av kvinnornas hormonnivåer och BMI-utveckling efter genomgången graviditet.

Den här uppföljande studien syftade således till att söka utröna vilka kvinnor som återgick till samma vikt som före graviditeten, vilka som ökade och vilka som minskade i vikt efter graviditeten och vad som var karaktäristiskt för de olika utfallen. Förhoppningen var att resultaten framöver skulle kunna bidra till förutse vilka kvinnor som skulle få vilket utfall. Föreslagna metoder för viktnedgång brukar vara kostrestriktioner och fysisk aktivitet, varför vi även tagit hänsyn till detta i denna studie. Vår primära frågeställning var dock vilka nivåer deras hungerstimulerande- och hungerdämpande hormoner låg på nu, hur de utvecklats sedan kvinnorna deltog i den föregående studien vid deras kejsarsnitt, samt hur detta hängde samman med deras viktutveckling och kroppsammansättning efter graviditeten.

Det togs därför blod och ryggmärgsvätska, och därefter vägdes, mättes och genomfördes en kroppssammansättningsmätning på kvinnorna. Sedan indelades de i tre grupper utifrån hur deras BMI utvecklats över graviditeten och i efterförloppet. Det blev en Uppgångs-, en Stabiloch en Nedgångsgrupp.

Våra primära resultat avseende dessa grupper var att den Stabila gruppen var den som hade lägst BMI, vilket var överraskande. Denna grupp låg också kvar på höga nivåer av AgRP i blodet. Lågt BMI korrelerade med ökade nivåer av s-AgRP och ökad leptintransport till hjärnan. Uppgångsgruppen visade sig ha sänkt sina s-AgRP-nivåer mest. Dessutom hade de ökat koncentrationen av insulin i CNS mest, och hade även högst perifer insulinresistens av grupperna, vilka båda är bidragande faktorer till det metabola syndromet som sammanhänger med högre BMI. För första gången på människor, hittade vi också samband mellan fettintaget och AgRP i CNS, vilket föranleder misstankar om att kostsammansättningen kan påverka aptiten i högre grad än vad som tidigare trotts. Man kunde inte se någon reversering efter genomgången graviditet avseende den mättade leptintransporten till hjärnan, vilket talar för att denna transport snarare beror på BMI än graviditet.

Den enda livsstilskomponenten som kunde kopplas till BMI var fysisk aktivitet på fritiden. Signifikant för ett stabilt och lågt BMI verkade således generellt vara höga nivåer av hungerstimulerande hormonet AgRP i serum och en hög leptintransport till hjärnan, i kombination med träning.

## 11. Acknowledgements

Firstly, I want to thank my supervisor Ulrika Andersson-Hall for inexhaustible support and guidance throughout this project. Your dedicated work and positive attitude are invaluable to me.

I also want to thank Agneta Holmäng who gave me the opportunity to be a part of this project. Thank you for your professional and neat input to my report, it has been highly appreciated.

Ellen Hårsmar and Evelina Järvinen, it has been a pleasure working with you! You have not only facilitated my work with this report, but also contributed to a cosy and inspiring working environment.

Lastly, my humblest thanks to Tobias Harhoff who has been holding the fort at home, and who has been supporting and helping me from day one.

26

# **12. References**

1. Welfare NBoHa. Pregnancies, Deliveries and Newborn Infants. The Swedish Medical Birth Register 1973–2014. Assisted Reproduction, treatment 1991–2013. In: SWEDEN OSO, editor. www.socialstyrelsen.se, december 2015.

2. Linne Y. Effects of obesity on women's reproduction and complications during pregnancy. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2004;5(3):137-43.

3. Vernini JM, Moreli JB, Magalhaes CG, Costa RA, Rudge MV, Calderon IM. Maternal and fetal outcomes in pregnancies complicated by overweight and obesity. Reproductive health. 2016;13(1):100.

4. Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet (London, England). 2009;373(9677):1773-9.

5. Gunderson EP, Abrams B, Selvin S. Does the pattern of postpartum weight change differ according to pregravid body size? International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2001;25(6):853-62.

6. Montpetit AE, Plourde H, Cohen TR, Koski KG. Modeling the impact of prepregnancy BMI, physical activity, and energy intake on gestational weight gain, infant birth weight, and postpartum weight retention. Journal of physical activity & health. 2012;9(7):1020-9.

7. Rooney BL, Schauberger CW. Excess pregnancy weight gain and long-term obesity: one decade later. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2002;100(2):245-52.

8. Forsum E, Lof M. Energy metabolism during human pregnancy. Annual review of nutrition. 2007;27:277-92.

9. Abelenda M, Puerta ML. Inhibition of diet-induced thermogenesis during pregnancy in the rat. Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology. 1987;409(3):314-7.

10. Butte NF, Hopkinson JM, Nicolson MA. Leptin in human reproduction: serum leptin levels in pregnant and lactating women. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1997;82(2):585-9.

11. Masuzaki H, Ogawa Y, Sagawa N, Hosoda K, Matsumoto T, Mise H, et al. Nonadipose tissue production of leptin: leptin as a novel placenta-derived hormone in humans. Nature medicine. 1997;3(9):1029-33.

12. Page-Wilson G, Meece K, White A, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Smiley R, et al. Proopiomelanocortin, agouti-related protein, and leptin in human cerebrospinal fluid: correlations with body weight and adiposity. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism. 2015;309(5):E458-65.

13. Myers MG, Cowley MA, Munzberg H. Mechanisms of leptin action and leptin resistance. Annual review of physiology. 2008;70:537-56.

14. Banks WA, Kastin AJ, Huang W, Jaspan JB, Maness LM. Leptin enters the brain by a saturable system independent of insulin. Peptides. 1996;17(2):305-11.

15. Banks WA. The blood-brain barrier as a regulatory interface in the gut-brain axes. Physiology & behavior. 2006;89(4):472-6.

16. Page-Wilson G, Reitman-Ivashkov E, Meece K, White A, Rosenbaum M, Smiley RM, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of leptin, proopiomelanocortin, and agouti-related protein in human pregnancy: evidence for leptin resistance. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2013;98(1):264-71.

Morrison CD, Morton GJ, Niswender KD, Gelling RW, Schwartz MW. Leptin inhibits hypothalamic Npy and Agrp gene expression via a mechanism that requires phosphatidylinositol 3-OH-kinase signaling. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism.
2005;289(6):E1051-7.

18. Konner AC, Bruning JC. Selective insulin and leptin resistance in metabolic disorders. Cell metabolism. 2012;16(2):144-52.

19. Gustavsson C, Andersson Hall U, Pelanis A, Karlsson OI, Andersson L, Svedin P, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of insulin, leptin, and agouti-related protein in relation to BMI in pregnant women. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2016;24(6):1299-304.

20. Augustine RA, Ladyman SR, Grattan DR. From feeding one to feeding many: hormoneinduced changes in bodyweight homeostasis during pregnancy. The Journal of physiology. 2008;586(2):387-97.

21. Wei W, Pham K, Gammons JW, Sutherland D, Liu Y, Smith A, et al. Diet composition, not calorie intake, rapidly alters intrinsic excitability of hypothalamic AgRP/NPY neurons in mice. Scientific reports. 2015;5:16810.

22. Ilnytska O, Argyropoulos G. The role of the Agouti-Related Protein in energy balance regulation. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2008;65(17):2721-31.

23. Banks WA. The source of cerebral insulin. European journal of pharmacology. 2004;490(1-3):5-12.

24. Heni M, Schopfer P, Peter A, Sartorius T, Fritsche A, Synofzik M, et al. Evidence for altered transport of insulin across the blood-brain barrier in insulin-resistant humans. Acta diabetologica. 2014;51(4):679-81.

25. Keller-Wood M, Feng X, Wood CE, Richards E, Anthony RV, Dahl GE, et al. Elevated maternal cortisol leads to relative maternal hyperglycemia and increased stillbirth in ovine pregnancy. American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology. 2014;307(4):R405-13.

26. Lovelady C. Balancing exercise and food intake with lactation to promote post-partum weight loss. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2011;70(2):181-4.

27. Choi J, Fukuoka Y, Lee JH. The effects of physical activity and physical activity plus diet interventions on body weight in overweight or obese women who are pregnant or in postpartum: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Preventive medicine. 2013;56(6):351-64.

28. Amorim Adegboye AR, Linne YM. Diet or exercise, or both, for weight reduction in women after childbirth. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2013(7):Cd005627.

29. Mazess RB, Barden HS, Bisek JP, Hanson J. Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for totalbody and regional bone-mineral and soft-tissue composition. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 1990;51(6):1106-12.

30. Lee JJ, Freeland-Graves JH, Pepper MR, Stanforth PR, Xu B. Prediction of Android and Gynoid Body Adiposity via a Three-dimensional Stereovision Body Imaging System and Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2015;34(5):367-77.

31. Lindroos AK, Lissner L, Sjostrom L. Validity and reproducibility of a self-administered dietary questionnaire in obese and non-obese subjects. European journal of clinical nutrition. 1993;47(7):461-81.

32. Keskin M, Kurtoglu S, Kendirci M, Atabek ME, Yazici C. Homeostasis model assessment is more reliable than the fasting glucose/insulin ratio and quantitative insulin sensitivity check index for assessing insulin resistance among obese children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2005;115(4):e500-3.

33. Wysokinski A, Kazmierski J, Kloszewska I. Serum levels of AgRP protein in patients with schizophrenia on clozapine monotherapy. Metabolic brain disease. 2015;30(2):529-35.

34. Lu XY, Shieh KR, Kabbaj M, Barsh GS, Akil H, Watson SJ. Diurnal rhythm of agoutirelated protein and its relation to corticosterone and food intake. Endocrinology. 2002;143(10):3905-15.

35. Ghanbari-Niaki A, Saghebjoo M, Rashid-Lamir A, Fathi R, Kraemer RR. Acute circuitresistance exercise increases expression of lymphocyte agouti-related protein in young women. Experimental biology and medicine (Maywood, NJ). 2010;235(3):326-34. 36. Wilsey J, Zolotukhin S, Prima V, Scarpace PJ. Central leptin gene therapy fails to overcome leptin resistance associated with diet-induced obesity. American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology. 2003;285(5):R1011-20.

37. Dalvi PS, Chalmers JA, Luo V, Han DY, Wellhauser L, Liu Y, et al. High-fat induces acute and chronic inflammation in the hypothalamus: Effect of HFD, palmitate and TNF-alpha on appetite-regulating NPY neurons. International journal of obesity (2005). 2016.

38. De Souza CT, Araujo EP, Bordin S, Ashimine R, Zollner RL, Boschero AC, et al. Consumption of a fat-rich diet activates a proinflammatory response and induces insulin resistance in the hypothalamus. Endocrinology. 2005;146(10):4192-9.

39. Baver SB, Hope K, Guyot S, Bjorbaek C, Kaczorowski C, O'Connell KM. Leptin modulates the intrinsic excitability of AgRP/NPY neurons in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2014;34(16):5486-96.

40. Milanski M, Degasperi G, Coope A, Morari J, Denis R, Cintra DE, et al. Saturated fatty acids produce an inflammatory response predominantly through the activation of TLR4 signaling in hypothalamus: implications for the pathogenesis of obesity. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2009;29(2):359-70.

41. Bastard JP, Maachi M, Lagathu C, Kim MJ, Caron M, Vidal H, et al. Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. European cytokine network. 2006;17(1):4-12.

42. Munzberg H, Myers MG, Jr. Molecular and anatomical determinants of central leptin resistance. Nature neuroscience. 2005;8(5):566-70.

43. Lawlor DA, Emberson JR, Ebrahim S, Whincup PH, Wannamethee SG, Walker M, et al. Is the association between parity and coronary heart disease due to biological effects of pregnancy or adverse lifestyle risk factors associated with child-rearing? Findings from the British Women's Heart and Health Study and the British Regional Heart Study. Circulation. 2003;107(9):1260-4.

44. Lindroos AK, Lissner L, Sjostrom L. Does degree of obesity influence the validity of reported energy and protein intake? Results from the SOS Dietary Questionnaire. Swedish Obese Subjects. European journal of clinical nutrition. 1999;53(5):375-8.

# 13. Appendeces

Appendix 1. Gynoid and android fat distribution



#### → Android fat distribution

→ Gynoid fat distribution

**Appendix 2.** BMI and background characteristics in earlier BMI groups; normal weight (NW), over weight (OW) and obese (OB)

NW	OW	OB	D
 (n)	(n)	(n)	Г

<b>Pre-pregnancy BMI</b> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	22.8 (18.0 – 24.8) (10)	26.9 (26.3 – 29.7) (8)	30.4 (30.0 – 34.0) (7)	<0.001 a. <0.001 b. 0.001 c. 0.001
Gestational weight gain (kg)	14.5 (8.0 – 18.0) (10)	12.0 (9.0 – 24.0) (8)	11.1 (-2.0 – 27.0) (7)	0.412 a. 0.326 b. 0.239 c. 0.642
<b>BMI at follow up</b> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.3 (18.4 – 30.6) (10)	28.2 (26.2 – 32.6) (8)	31.5 (26.9 – 37.0) (7)	<b>0.002</b> <b>a. 0.004</b> <b>b. 0.003</b> c. 0.298
Weight change post-partum (kg)	0.5 (-4.9 – 17.3) (10)	4.1 (-6.0 – 13.6) (8)	-0.1 (-8.8 – 13.9) (7)	0.327 a. 0.424 b. 0.354 c. 0.165
<b>BMI change from pre-</b> <b>pregnancy to follow up</b> (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.2 (-1.6 – 6.7) (10)	1.5 (-1.9 – 4.7) (8)	0.0 (-3.2 – 4.6) (7)	0.309 a. 0.450 b. 0.379 c. 0.132
Age (years)	40.6 (29.6 – 46.7) (10)	40.0 (31.6 – 45.0) (8)	41.3 (27.4 – 43.2) (7)	0.881 a. 0.593 b. 0.884 c. 0.817
Parity (n)	2 (2 – 3) (10)	2 (2 – 2) (8)	2 (1 – 3) (7)	0.297 a. 0.593 b. 0.592 c. 0.579
<b>Time since last pregnancy</b> (years)	6 (4 – 6) (10)	5 (2 – 6) 8	4 (3 – 6) (7)	0.102 a. 0.163 b. 0.033 c. 0.527
HOMA-IR during pregnancy	0.9 (0.2 – 3.4) (10)	1.3 (0.1 – 1.7) (8)	1.1 (0.4 – 4.6) (7)	0.834 a. 0.722 b. 0.558 c. 0.817
HOMA-IR at follow up	1.1 (0.4 – 2.3) (9)	1.0 (0.4 – 2.8) (8)	1.7 (0.8 – 2.8) (7)	0.217 a. 0.847 b. 0.101 c. 0.165

Values are medians, with minimum and maximum values within parenthesis. P-values based on Kruskall Wallis. Significance at the <0.005 level.

a. Whitney U comparison between NW – OW

b. Whitney U comparison between NW – OB

c. Whitney U comparison between OW – OB

Appendix 3.



